REPORT



Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada 6-8 December 2011

Open–Ended Workshop on the International Movement of Grain December 2011



Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

SPONSORS:





Agence canadienne d'inspection des aliments











Canadian Grain Commission canadienne des grains

TABLE OF CONTENTS

WELCOME AND WORKSHOP LOGISTICS	5
IPPC WELCOME	5
REVIEW OF IPPC TERMS OF REFERENCE AND GOAL OF THE WORKSHOP	6
SESSION 1: HOW GRAIN MOVES AROUND THE WORLD	6
Global Overview	6
Country presentation from China	6
APPPC member countries' key issues on the international movement of grain	6
Grain Exports from the countries of the COSAVE region	7
Phytosanitary perspective on the international movement of grain in the OIRSA region	7
SESSION 2: PEST INTRODUCTIONS AND PHYTOSANITARY MEASURES	8
Phytosanitary certification for Grain Export in Uruguay	8
Compliance agreements to mitigate pests detected at ports of entry	8
Importance of Phytosanitary Action related to the International Movement of Grain	8
Certification and Monitoring of Grain in Relation to pests within a commercial grain system	•
Export procedures to manage infestation	9
Grain Movement in Kenya and east African region	9
The CGC, Canada's Regulator of Quality Assurance in the Grain Industry	10
Role of the Canadian Food inspection Agency in grain Exports	10
FIELD TRIP: VISIT TO CASCADIA GRAIN ELEVATOR AND TO THE LABORATHE CGC	
SESSION 3: MANAGING RISK FACTORS	10
Managing phytosanitary risk and quality standards	10
Pathway analyses: overview of the draft North American Standards	10
PRATIQUE: a new way to do Pest risk analysis	11
Specific Pest Risk analyses for grain pests	11
Logistics of bulk grain movement and cargo containers	11
End use and the secure movement of grain	11
Grain Movement in the United States and distribution system	11
Grain and Oilseed exports in Argentina	11

SESSION 4: STANDARDS AND GUIDANCE FOR THE INTERNATIONAL MOVEME GRAIN	
Relevance of existing ISPMs to the international movement of grain	12
Official national Standards' Impact on Grain Movements: review of the action taken under the Grain Standards Act	
BREAKOUT SESSIONS	12
CONCLUDING REMARKS	13
APPENDIX 1 - Agenda	14
APPENDIX 2 - Participants List	17
APPENDIX 3 - Terms of reference for the open-ended IPPC workshop on internat movement of grain	
APPENDIX 4 - Main results of the workshop	26

WELCOME AND WORKSHOP LOGISTICS

Mr Ian McDonell, Executive Director for the North American Plant Protection Organization (NAPPO) welcomed the participants to Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, for the Open-ended workshop on the international movement of grain, and outlined the variety of speakers that would be presenting (see Appendix 1 to this report). Mr McDonell acknowledged the variety of participants (see Appendix 2 to this report) from both the public and private sector and noted that NAPPO had a long history of working with industry on the development of regional standards for phytosanitary measures. In addition, he commented that there was also participation from both developed and developing countries. Mr McDonell also mentioned that certain countries were not able to participate in the workshop due to late confirmation of funding which resulted in some participants having problems obtaining visas in time. As a result, the presenters from Nigeria, Pakistan and Yemen were unable to attend and would not be giving their presentation as outlined on the agenda.

The generous sponsors that allowed this workshop to come together were also recognized, in particular: the Federal Republic of Germany, Safe Supply of Affordable Food Everywhere (SSAFE), Cámara de la Industria Aceitera de la República Argentina (CIARA), the Canadian Grain Commission, the Vancouver Grain Terminal Association, Comité de Sanidad Vegetal del Cono Sur (COSAVE) and the North American Export Grain Association.

It was recognized that the NAPPO Secretariat played a lead role in organizing this workshop along with support from the Asian Pacific Plant Protection Commission (APPPC), the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), other Regional Plant Protection Organizations (RPPOs) and the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC) Secretariat.

The Steering Committee was introduced and composed of: Mr. Ian McDonell (NAPPO), Mr. Brent Larson (IPPC), Mr Robert Schwartz (Australia/APPC) and Mr. Steve Côté (Canada). In addition Mr. Brian Rex (Canada) joined the Steering Committee, as well as Mr. Bill Magee (Australia/APPC), who replaced Mr Schwartz, who was unable to attend.

IPPC WELCOME

Ms Kyu-Ock Yim of the Republic of Korea and Vice Chairperson of the Commission on Phytosanitary Measures (CPM) gave opening remarks. She thanked NAPPO and the Canadian government for hosting the workshop and expanded on the four key elements of the IPPC strategic framework:

- enhancing food security
- protecting the environment and biodiversity
- facilitating trade through phytosanitary activities
- capacity development to achieve the first three objectives

Ms Yim recognized the importance of the trade of grain to both importing and exporting countries and the great variety of end-uses of grain. She mentioned that the objective of the workshop is to discuss the various issues faced by countries trading grain. She pointed out that 34 International Standards for Phytosanitary Measures (ISPMs) have been adopted by the CPM and most of these are conceptual. In order to facilitate trade and implement the IPPC and ISPMs, the development of commodity standards has been assigned a high priority. Ms Yim concluded her welcome by indicating that the objective of the workshop is to identify the most important issues associated with the global movement of grain and hoped that the workshop will provide guidance and technical background for the future work to help address the risks related to the international movement of grain.

REVIEW OF IPPC TERMS OF REFERENCE AND GOAL OF THE WORKSHOP

Mr Brent Larson, the Standards Officer with the IPPC Secretariat, provided the required background pertaining to the workshop. He mentioned the topic, *International movement of grain* (2008-007), was first added to the List of IPPC standards at CPM-3 (2008). This topic was discussed at CPM-4 (2009) and divergent opinions were expressed so the CPM decided to hold an Open ended workshop on the international movement of grain. The Terms of Reference (TOR) for this workshop were developed, reviewed by the Standards Committee in May 2009 and subsequently approved by the CPM Bureau in June 2009. CPM-5 (2010) noted the Terms of Reference (Appendix 19 to the Report of the meeting CPM-5 (2010), they are also attached as Appendix 3 to this report).

According to the TOR, the workshop should provide an opportunity to collect, consider and discuss relevant information. Mr Larson mentioned that a report on the main results from the workshop, including the different views expressed or if possible common conclusions will be made available to the CPM and Standards Committee (SC) following the workshop.

It was highlighted that the workshop should be seen as a brainstorming session and participants should not be concerned with coming to an agreement. The workshop should be seen as an opportunity to consider all issues associated with the international movement of grain.

SESSION 1: HOW GRAIN MOVES AROUND THE WORLD

Global Overview

Mr Kirk Miller of the North American Export Grain Association (NAEGA) gave an overview of the reasons why trade of grain and oilseed is important to consumers, as well as the scope and magnitude of the international trade of grain and oilseed. NAEGA's presentation gave some projections on increases in world population and the impact this will have on imported food stuffs. NAEGA showcased the importance of moving grain and oilseed from areas of surplus to areas of deficit to feed the world in a very efficient way at the lowest possible cost. The presentation also gave some production and trade statistics on major grain commodities and an overview of the type of conveyances used to move the grain. NAEGA's concluded that phytosanitary measures need to be transparent, based on sound science through risk analysis. Overly restrictive measures will have a negative impact on food security. Mr Miller noted that phytosanitary and other regulatory measures must be transparent and resolved before grain cargos have left the exporting country. Industry signalled a desire to work in partnership with government authorities to adopt and implement appropriate risk management measures that will facilitate trade.

Country presentation from China

Mr Liang Wei (China) gave an overview of laws and regulations covering the importation of grain and the organizational structure of China's National Plant Protection Organization (NPPO). Mr Wei provided a summary of China's import and export grain trade, as well as the most important pest interceptions in grain (weed seeds, fungi, insects, viruses, soil and other grain). China indicated that that the presence of foreign material in imported grain also poses significant phytosanitary risk.

APPPC member countries' key issues on the international movement of grain

Ms Merle Palacpac, representing the Asian and Pacific Plant Protection Commission (APPPC), indicated that there are a number of grain commodities imported and exported in this region. She provided various examples of pests being introduced through the international movement of grain. Her presentation highlighted different examples of quarantine pests intercepted (insects, snails, bacterial pathogens, etc.). She also mentioned non-quarantine pests and other contaminants have been intercepted in grain

consignments and that phytosanitary import requirements for various grain commodities can vary depending upon the importing country. Deviation from the intended use (e.g. for planting), road side spillage and the presence of soil borne pests were identified as important issues. She explained that processing facilities present various risks depending on whether the processing is conducted in a secured facility rather than a facility where little control is done on the disposition of foreign material. The risk associated with storage is very dependent on whether it is done in a commercial facility versus a sort yard where the risk is significantly higher due to the risk of pests being spread by wind. Ms Palacpac noted the value of importing countries putting in place secure measures for transport and processing of imported grain.

Ms Palacpac's presentation also highlighted the great variability in the ability to perform pest risk analyses (PRAs) in the region. Other issues identified by APPPC members included development of an on-line Phytosanitary Certificate, and stringent requirements set by importing countries and additional declarations on Phytosanitary Certificates for quality, food safety and environmental issues.

Grain Exports from the countries of the COSAVE region

Mr Diego Quiroga gave an overview of the grain export volumes of the COSAVE member countries. He also highlighted the complexity of phytosanitary certification given the numerous counties to which COSAVE members countries export grain to and that an ISPM could help in this regards. It was noted phytosanitary measures need to be proportional to the intended use of the products and to the pest risk it poses. Intended use needs to be taken into consideration in the development of phytosanitary import requirements.

COSAVE indicated that some of the recent problems associated with grain export include:

- intended end use not taken into consideration
- requirements for pests with very low potential risks
- requirements for quarantine pest not associated with the pathway.

COSAVE indicated that risk management measures are not always in accordance with the risk and sometimes impossible to apply (e.g. irradiation, methyl bromide fumigation).

Mr. Quiroga concluded the presentation by indicating COSAVE's willingness to cooperate in drafting an ISPM on the international movement of grain.

Phytosanitary perspective on the international movement of grain in the OIRSA region

Mr José Arturo Solorzano Arroyo indicated Organismo Internacional Regional de Sanidad Agropecuaria (OIRSA) member countries are mainly importers of various grain commodities but certain countries also export grain. Statistics were provided highlighting the origin of grain imports. OIRSA indicated that, despite phytosanitary requirements, most grain consignments imported in the region are known to have pests of quarantine significance, and phytosanitary measures taken in the country of export have proven to be ineffective in eliminating pests in grain consignments. As a result, phytosanitary measures, such as treatments, need to be applied by importing countries. Possible causes of non-compliance include:

- lack of cleanliness of the ship's holds
- inadequate/ineffective treatments

OIRSA provided examples of pests introduced in the region through the international movement of grain, outlined problems associated with ineffective fumigations when done in cold temperatures, and noted the potential health and safety risks arising from in-transit fumigation.

SESSION 2: PEST INTRODUCTIONS AND PHYTOSANITARY MEASURES

Phytosanitary certification for Grain Export in Uruguay

Ms Maria Ines Areas of Uruguay gave an overview of grain production in Uruguay and the markets for grain exports from Uruguay. Phytosanitary certification in Uruguay is based on the principles phytosanitary surveillance and official control.

The presentation included examples of phytosanitary requirements for different grain commodities. Ms Ines Areas indicated caution must be exercised because certain import requirements are quality related rather than phytosanitary in nature. It appears that phytosanitary requirements of importing countries are not always determined through a PRA. Requirements should be based on the intended use of the products and the pest risk. ISPM 32: 2009 Categorization of commodities according to their pest risk indicates the intended use of certain commodities results in much higher probability of introducing pests than other commodities. Clear distinctions between phytosanitary measures and quality requirements have to be made.

Uruguay highlighted the important differences in the phytosanitary risk posed by the grain versus the seed pathway.

Compliance agreements to mitigate pests detected at ports of entry

Mr George Galasso of the United States gave an overview of compliance agreements. The US is both an importer and exporter of grain and the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Animal Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) is involved with both. Imported grain may have many end uses and the end use determines how best to mitigate pest risk. Pests found in grain consignments can, in many cases, be mitigated by normal processing of the grain such as grinding/milling, cleaning, heat treatment, pesticide treatment or a combination of these. The US provided an example of how pet food processing can be used to mitigate pest risk. Different factors contained in compliance agreements were identified outlining the advantages and disadvantages of entering into such agreements with importers. The presentation concluded by indicating that compliance agreements have proven to be beneficial for trade while allowing the least restrictive action needed to mitigate pest risk.

Importance of Phytosanitary Action related to the International Movement of Grain

This presentation was a joint effort by Japan and the Republic of Korea. Mr Masahiro Sai (Japan) provided data on domestic grain production, consumption and importation of various grain commodities. Statistics for different types of grain imported into the Republic of Korea was also provided. Various types of impacts associated with pests being present in grain consignments were highlighted.

A table was presented identifying the number of pest interceptions at points of entry in Japan and Korea. Mr Sai outlined the importance of knowing where pest infestation is likely to occur and how such pests are spread. In order to reduce the risk of spread, a number of measures can be applied in the field, in the conveyance, in the warehouse or in the processing plant. Such measures need to be considered by both the exporting and the importing countries.

Certification and Monitoring of Grain in Relation to pests within a commercial grain handling system

Mr Blaine Timlick of the Canadian Grain Commission (CGC) explained the regulatory authority of the CGC. Information was provided demonstrating the international movement of grain and an explanation was given on grain movement from the farm to the various conveyances for subsequent export to end

users. He indicated most pest control decisions in Canada are done at the farm. The presentation also included information on major grain growing areas of Canada and the locations of export facilities.

The presentation also included information on sampling for representativeness versus sampling to meet ISPM objectives. Information was provided on automatic sampling equipment used in Canada and graphs depicting temperature variation of bulk grain cargoes from the departure to arrival time associated with the impact on pest population. Mr Timlick concluded by indicating consideration should be given on existing standards, and a standard on the international movement of grain should assist in minimizing the establishment of invasive species, be applicable to high throughput (high volume) and efficient systems, and be relevant to the grain industry.

Export procedures to manage infestation

Topics covered in this presentation included the Australian context, the reform to Australia's export certification system and issues related to grain export. Mr David Heinrich (Australia) explained there is zero tolerance for insects on inspected products. Cooperative research centres on post harvest storage have been established in Australia. The presentation also depicted the variety of countries for which phytosanitary certificates are issued.

The outcome of Australia's reforms to the export certification system include revised legislation, plant export operations manual, advanced e-learning training, audit management, the establishment of effective industry partnership and the development of a manual of importing country's phytosanitary requirements.

Various commodities from Australia are exported to over 200 different countries. Australia has a range of verification and monitoring systems throughout the export pathway that ensures exported grain is free from infestations. Grain exported from Australia must meet the following three key criteria:

- the establishment where the commodity is prepared for export must be registered with the Australian Quarantine and Inspection Service (AQIS);
- the transport unit used for export, such as a container or shipping vessel, must be approved for loading; and
- the product must be inspected to ensure it is export-compliant and free of live insects (in inspected samples) and other pests identified by importing countries.

Issues which still need to be addressed include letters of credit requirement on phytosanitary certificates, quality issues rather than plant health, poor vessel hygiene and acceptance of electronic certification.

Grain Movement in Kenya and east African region

Mr John Wanga explained the importance of agriculture to Africa and Kenya and the role of the Kenya Plant Health Inspectorate Services (KEPHIS) in the country. Much of the grain movement in Kenya and East Africa moves through the port of Mombasa, which received imports to Kenya and through Kenya. There are limited resources for inspection at the port of entry. Therefore, there is a need for measures to be put in place by exporting countries to comply with importing country requirements. Data was provided showing the type of grain and its relative importance in this country. The most important storage and transportation problems Kenya encounters are pest infestation, contamination, high moisture content, poor storage conditions and poor condition of conveyances. Also noted were insufficient storage and transportation facilities in Kenya. A summary of inspection procedures, as well as the tools and equipment used in different situations, was provided.

The CGC, Canada's Regulator of Quality Assurance in the Grain Industry

Mr Randy Dennis gave an overview of the role, mandate and structure of the CGC as Canada's regulatory agency for quality assurance in the grain industry. The CGC is the federal agency responsible for establishing and maintaining Canada's grain quality standards. Its programs result in shipments of grain that consistently meet contract specifications for quality, safety and quantity. The CGC regulates the grain industry to protect producers' rights and ensure the integrity of grain transactions. Canada's grain supply chain and handling and transportation system were also explained.

Role of the Canadian Food inspection Agency in grain Exports

Ms Kanwal Kochhar explained the role and organizational structure of the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) and provided details on the CFIA's responsibilities as the national plant protection organization for Canada. Information on crop production areas, statistics on the production and export of major crops and the Canadian grain handling system was provided. The role of CFIA in the export certification process was outlined, indicating that Canada's grain handling systems plays a significant role in CFIA's systems-based approach for certification of grain exports. Challenges in export certification and the need for the development of a risk mitigation system along the export and import continuum were also presented.

FIELD TRIP: VISIT TO CASCADIA GRAIN ELEVATOR AND TO THE REGIONAL OFFICE OF THE CGC

Workshop participants visited the Western Regional Office of the Canadian Grain Commission (CGC), which offered the participants an opportunity to understand the role of the CGC as regulator of quality assurance for the grain industry in Canada and the linkages for providing information to support phytosanitary certification.

The group also visited the Viterra Cascadia grain elevator at the Port of Vancouver. A virtual tour was shown of the operation of the Cascadia elevator, which gave participants a better understanding of the movement of grain from the growing areas to exports markets. Mr. John Dewar, Director, Vancouver Terminal Operations, Viterra, provided information on storage capacity, grain cleaning equipment and the various commodities the facility handles. Participants asked questions on the operation of this type of commercial grain handling facility.

SESSION 3: MANAGING RISK FACTORS

Managing phytosanitary risk and quality standards

Mr Bill Magee of the Australian Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry and Gerard McMullen of the Grains Industry Market Access Forum gave a joint presentation on managing phytosanitary risks in grains. Mr Magee identified the ISPMs that were relevant to the international movement of grain, the overlap between food safety issues and phytosanitary issues and Australia's advantages with regards to phytosanitary certification of grains. Mr McMullen (Grains Industry Market Access Forum) gave an overview of the role the Australian grain industry plays in setting quality standards.

Pathway analyses: overview of the draft North American Standards

Ms Alejandra Elizalde gave an overview of the different steps that lead to the development of a draft regional standard for phytosanitary measures on pathway risk analysis. Ms Elizalde provided a summary of the elements contained in the draft document and the reasons to conduct a pathway risk analysis.

PRATIQUE: a new way to do Pest risk analysis

Mr Jens Unger provided a summary of PRATIQUE: Enhancements of Pest Risk Analysis Techniques project, a European Union funded project. Some of the key challenges of Pest Risk Analysis (PRA) were identified in the presentation. A number of research institutes, international organizations and partners outside Europe also participated in this project. PRATIQUE conducted multi-disciplinary research to enhance the techniques used in PRA. Improved methods were developed for: (a) the assessment of economic, environmental and social impacts; (b) summarising risk using effective, harmonised and consistent techniques that take uncertainty into account; (c) mapping endangered areas; (d) pathway risk analysis and systems approaches; and (e) guiding actions during emergencies caused by outbreaks of harmful pests. PRATIQUE deliverables include protocols, decision support schemes and computer programs.

Specific Pest Risk analyses for grain pests

Mr Edgar Santamaria provided data on production area and associated production volume of the most important grain commodities of OIRSA member countries. Additionally, data on grain imports to Central American countries were identified. His presentation gave specific examples of PRA for grains for different pests. Proposed risk management options were also outlined. Mr Santamaria concluded by highlighting that most OIRSA countries import large quantities of grain, but domestic production is also quite significant. The international movement of grain involves the risk of introducing quarantine pests and, as such, management of such imports is required to protect importing countries.

Logistics of bulk grain movement and cargo containers

Mr Adrian Samuel showcased the various grain commodities that are containerized and subsequently exported to different markets. He explained the economic factors that are taken into consideration when exporting grain in containers and the associated logistics with this type of grain movement. The advantages of shipping by containers rather than bulk carriers were also highlighted. Mr Samuel concluded his presentation by identifying the most important challenges and opportunities associated with the movement of grain commodities in containers.

End use and the secure movement of grain

Mr Conrad Black provided some figures on grain consumption in New Zealand, the importation of grain and the associated end uses. He presented the New Zealand import health standards applicable to grain, and outlined the difference in phytosanitary import requirements between seed and grain. End use biosecurity measures were identified in the presentation, as well as information on New Zealand's grain import systems through the various stages of pre-discharge, discharge, transport, storage and processing. The grain import systems facilities approval and audit procedures were presented as a method used to manage phytosanitary risk associated with grain imports.

Grain Movement in the United States and distribution system

Mr Arvid Hawk provided an overview of the various types of conveyances and their respective capacity to move grain in the US. The challenges faced by the industry operating in a bulk grain system were also identified.

Grain and Oilseed exports in Argentina

Mr Gabriel Pierre gave an overview of grain production and export in Argentina. He also explained the role of the NPPO in certifying grain exports.

SESSION 4: STANDARDS AND GUIDANCE FOR THE INTERNATIONAL MOVEMENT OF GRAIN

Relevance of existing ISPMs to the international movement of grain

Mr Jens Unger identified existing ISPMS that address phytosanitary measures that may also be relevant for the international movement of grain. Most of the ISPMs relevant to the international movement of grain are conceptual in nature and provide guidance on phytosanitary principles, pest risk analysis, import and export procedures, inspection of consignments, methodologies for sampling of consignments, pest free area and low pest prevalence approaches, pest surveillance and pest management. Only a few ISPMs address grain specifically. However, no ISPM provides specific guidelines to grain as a commodity.

Official national standards' impact on grain movements: review of the action taken under the US Grain Standards Act

Mr Arvid Hawk highlighted the importance of grain standards in the international marketing of grain. The US system was explained in some detail to demonstrate how it integrates both the domestic and export market. The export services provided by the Federal Grain Inspection Services (FGIS) were also explained.

BREAKOUT SESSIONS

Two small group discussion sessions took place during the workshop. The first session took place at the end of day one and the second after the last presentations on day three. The participants were divided into four groups composed of representatives from the various stakeholders. Each group discussed a number of questions and reported back to the plenary.

For the first session, the questions were:

- What are the commonalities in the International Movement of Grain?
 - . What are the main issues?
 - . Can they be categorized in any fashion?
 - . What are the differences?
- What are the commonalities/differences regarding measures taken for export?
- What are the commonalities/differences regarding measures taken for import?
- Are there other key issues we have not identified?
- Identify commonalities and differences that could affect risk management.

For the second session, the questions were:

- What are the practical and effective phytosanitary measures?
- What are complementary commercial measures?
- Are there gaps and how do we best address them?

Participants returned to plenary to present and discuss their responses to these questions. The Steering Committee presented the main results of the workshop and participants discussed these points further and proposed modifications to these conclusions. The main results of the workshop were grouped into the following seven broad categories:

- 1. Pest risk assessments
- 2. Quality versus quarantine issues

- 3. Pest risk management
 - Treatments
- 4. Non-compliance
- 5. Surveillance
- 6. Capacity development needs
- 7. Communication/transparency

Details of the main results of the workshop are presented in Appendix 4 to this report.

The plenary session concluded that guidance could be offered by developing an ISPM on this topic, which would target NPPOs, or by developing guidance similar to the *Guide to implementation of phytosanitary standards in forestry*, which was developed by the Food and Agriculture Organization's (FAO) Forestry Department with input from the IPPC Secretariat. This type of guidance would be targeted at assisting the international grain industry and NPPOs. Additionally, a combination of the two approaches could be considered by the CPM.

Although no consensus was reached on one single way forward, it was agreed that the following three approaches could provide some options on how additional guidance could be provided:

- 1. Develop an ISPM according to the CPM-adopted topic *International movement of grain* (2008-007)
- 2. Develop a 'best practices' type document which could include industry practices, outline the roles and responsibilities of NPPOs and explain the applicability of existing ISPMs; or
- 3. A combination of both 1 and 2.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Mr Ian McDonell (NAPPO) closed the meeting by thanking all the presenters for their time and efforts, the facilitators and rapporteurs for their help in the side sessions, the Steering Committee members for their planning and all the participants for their active involvement. A special thanks was given to the staff of NAPPO and the CFIA who helped with all the local arrangements and the day-to-day administration of the workshop.

Several participants expressed their appreciation for having this forum, which allowed participants from around the world, representing governments, industry and regional and international organizations, to come together, discuss the issues and work together to develop possible solutions to identified areas of concern. A general interest was also expressed to consider holding a similar event in the future, but the group was reminded that more certain advance funding and more long term planning would be required for a future workshop.

It was noted that presentations given at this meeting, as well as the full report of the meeting will be posted on the International Phytosanitary Portal (https://www.ippc.int/index.php?id=1111060). The main results of the workshop will be presented to CPM-7 (2012) as a CPM decision paper.

APPENDIX 1 - Agenda

Tuesday, December 6, 2011

TIME	TOPIC	SPEAKER
8:00 - 8:30	Registration	
8:30 - 8:40	Welcome and workshop logistics	Mr. Ian McDonell, North American Plant Protection Organization (NAPPO)
8:40 - 8:50	IPPC Welcome	Ms. Kyu-Ock Yim, International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC)
8:50 – 9:00	Review of IPPC terms of reference and goal of the workshop	Mr. Brent Larson, IPPC
Session 1: How o	grain moves around the world	
9:00 – 9:30	Global overview	Mr. Kirk Miller, North American Export Grain Association (NAEGA)
9:30 - 9:50	Country presentation: Asia region	Mr. Liang Wei, China
9:50 – 10: 10	Country presentation: Africa region	Mr. John Wanga, Kenya
10:10 – 10:45	Coffee break	
10:45 – 11:10	APPPC Member Countries' Key Issues on the International Movement of Grains	Ms. Merle Palacpac, Asian and Pacific Plant Protection Commission (APPPC)
11:10 – 11:35	Grain exports from countries of the COSAVE region	Mr. Diego Quiroga, Plant Health Committee of the Southern Cone (COSAVE) and Mr. Gabriel Pierre, Cereals Export Centre, Argentina
11:35 – 12:00	Phytosanitary perspective on the international movement of grain in the OIRSA region	Mr. José Arturo Solórzano Arroyo, Costa Rica
12:00 – 13:30	Lunch break	
Session 2: Pest i	ntroductions and phytosanitary measures	
13:30 – 13:50	Case studies on pests (insects and diseases)	Mr. Jeremiah Adekanmi Oluitan, Nigeria
13:50- 14:10	Phytosanitary certification for grains exports from Uruguay	Ms. María Inés Ares, Uruguay
14:10 –14:30	Phytosanitary Management in International Movement of Grains in Pakistan	Mr. Muhammad Akbar Zardari, Pakistan
14:30 - 14:50	Agreements to Mitigate Quarantine Pests Detected at Port of Entry	Mr. Bill Thomas, USA
14:50 – 15:00	Questions & Answers	Mr. Ian McDonell, Facilitator
15:00 – 15:30	Coffee break	
15:30 – 16:00	Importance of Phytosanitary Measures/Activities on grain trade	Mr. Masahiro Sai, Japan
16:00 – 16:30	Certification and Monitoring of Canadian Grains Moving to Export Position	Mr. Blaine Timlick, Canadian Grain Commission

TIME	TOPIC	SPEAKER
16:30 – 17:00	Exporting Procedures To Manage Infestations	Mr. David Heinrich, Australia
17:00 – 17:15	Questions & Answers	Mr. Ian McDonell, Facilitator
17:15 – 17:30	Wrap-up & Logistics	Mr. Ian McDonell, Facilitator
18:00 – 20:00	Reception hosted by NAEGA	Vistas 360, 19 th Floor

Wednesday, December 7, 2011

TIME	TOPIC	SPEAKER	
8:30 – 10:30	Small group discussions 1- Recalling presentations, identify commonalities that could affect risk management	Facilitator and rapporteurs for each group	
10:30 – 11:00	Coffee break		
11:00 – 12:00	Group reports to plenary		Group rapporteurs
12:00 – 12:25	The CGC, Canada's Regulator of Qu the Grain Industry	uality Assurance in	Mr. Randy Dennis, Canada
12:25 – 12:50	Role of the Canadian Food Inspection Exports	on Agency in Grain	Ms. Kanwal Kochhar, Canada
12:50 – 13:05	Questions & Answers		Mr. Ian McDonell, Facilitator
FIELD TRIP			
13:05 – 13:45	Travel by bus to field visit –Box lunch provided		Mr. Ian McDonell, Brian Rex Coordinators
GROUP 1 GROUP 2		GROUP 2	
13:45 – 14:30	Canadian Grains Commission office & Laboratory		Cascadia Elevator, Viterra - video/virtual tour of the grain elevator and possibly a vessel being loaded, from the Terminal Elevator
14:30 – 15:00	Travel time 14:45 – 15:15		Travel time
15:00- 16:00	Cascadia Elevator, Viterra - video/virtual tour of the grain elevator and possibly a vessel loaded, from the Terminal Elevator. 15:15 – 16:00		Canadian Grains Commission office & Laboratory
16:00 – 16:30	16:00 – 16:30 Return to hotel		

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 8, 2011

TIME	TOPIC	SPEAKER
Session 3: Managi	ng Risk Factors	
8:30 – 8: 45	Introduction: Managing phytosanitary risks and quality standards	Mr. Bill Magee, Australia
8:45 – 9:00	Pathway analyses – overview of the draft North American standard	Ms. Alejandra Elizalde, NAPPO
9:00 – 9:15	PRATIQUE: a new way to do PRAs	Mr. Jens Unger, Germany

TIME	TOPIC	SPEAKER
9:15 – 9:30	9:30 Specific PRAs for grain pests Mr. Edgar Santamaria, International Regional for Plant and Animal He (OIRSA)	
9:30 – 9:45	Logistic of bulk grain movement and cargo containers	Mr. Adrian Samuel, General Manager of Columbia Containers
9:45 – 10:00	End use and the secure movement of grain	Mr. Conrad Black, New Zealand
10:00 – 10:30	Coffee break	
10:30 – 12:00	Small group discussions 2- What are the globally relevant phytosanitary risk factors?	Mr. Ian McDonell, Facilitator and rapporteurs
12:00 - 12:30	Plenary – report on discussion groups outcomes	Rapporteurs
12:30 – 14:00	Lunch break	
Session 4: Standards	and guidance for the international movement of grain	
14:00 – 14:15	Relevance of existing ISPMs to the international movement of grain	Mr. Jens Unger, IPPC steward on grains
14:15 – 14:30	Official National Standards' Impact on Grain Movements: Review of one example- the actions taken under the US Grain Standards Act	Mr. Arvid Hawk, North American Export Grain Association (NAEGA)
14:30 – 15:00	Coffee break	
	Small group discussions 3- What are practical and effective phytosanitary measures?	
15:00 – 16:00	What are complementary commercial measures?Are there gaps and how do we best address them?	Facilitator/ Rapporteurs
16:00-16:30	Plenary: Reports back from breakout groups	Facilitator/ Rapporteurs
CONCLUSIONS		
16:30 – 17:15	Plenary discussion of the main results of the workshop: What are the common conclusionsconsensus and differences?	Mr. Ian McDonell, Facilitator
17:15 – 17:30	Concluding remarks	Mr. Ian McDonell

APPENDIX 2 - Participants List

Country	Name	Mailing, address, telephone	Email address			
Steering Commi	Steering Committee					
Australia / APPPC	Bill Magee (Mr.)	Assistant Secretary, Plant Biosecurity – Grains & Forestry, Australian Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry 7 London Cct Canberra ACT, Australia 2601 +61 2 6272 3220 / Fax: +61 2 6272 3307	bill.magee@daff.gov.au			
Australia / APPPC (Unable to attend)	Rob Schwartz (Mr.)	Biosecurity Australia G.P.O. Box 858 Canberra, ACT 2601, Australia Tel: (+61) 26 272 4865 / Fax:(+61) 26 272 3307	rob.schwartz@aqis.gov.au			
Canada	Brian Rex (Mr.)	Grains and Field Crops Specialist Grains and Oilseeds Section Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) Federal building, Floor 6th, Room 613 269 Main Street, Winnipeg MB, Canada R3C 1B2 Tel.:+ (204) 983-2236 / Fax: (204) 983-8022	Brian.Rex@inspection.gc.ca			
Canada	Steve Côté (Mr.)	Senior Plant Health Standards Officer Canadian Food inspection Agency 59, Camelot Drive, Ottawa, ON, K1A 0Y9 Canada Tel.: +613-773-7368 / Fax: +613-773- 7204	Steve.Cote@inspection.gc.ca			
IPPC Secretariat	Brent Larson (Mr.)	International Plant Protection Convention Secretariat Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Viale Delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153 Rome, Italy Tel.: +39-06-5705-4915	Brent.Larson@fao.org			
NAPPO	Ian McDonell (Mr.)	1431 Merivale Road, 3rd. Floor, Room 140, Ottawa, ON K1A 0Y9 – Canada Tel.: 613-221-5144 Fax: 613-228-2540	lan.mcdonell@nappo.org			
Administrative \$	Staff					
NAPPO	Alba Campos (Ms.)	1431 Merivale Road, 3rd. Floor, Room 140, Ottawa, ON K1A 0Y9 – Canada Tel.: 613-221-5145 Fax: 613-228-2540	Alba.campos@nappo.org			

Country	Name	Mailing, address, telephone	Email address
CFIA	Cecilia Soriano (Ms.)	Floor 4, Room 400 4321 Still Creek Drive Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada Tel.: +604-666-7743 / Fax: +604-666- 1963	Cecilia.Soriano@inspection.gc.ca
Participants	Representing Gov	ernments	
Argentina	Diego Quiroga (Mr.)	Director Nacional de Protección Vegetal SENASA, Paseo Colón 315 Piso 4º Dpto. B Ciudad de Buenos Aires (1063), Argentina Tel. +5411 4121 5498/5097	dquiroga@senasa.gov.ar
Argentina	Guillermo Luis Rossi (Mr.)	Director de Certificación Fitosanitaria DNPV SENASA Paseo Colón 315 Piso 4º Dpto. B Ciudad de Buenos Aires (1063) Argentina Tel. +5411 4121 5498/5097	grossi@senasa.gov.ar
Australia	David Heinrich (Mr.)	Manager Grain and Seed Exports Australian Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry GPO Box 858,Canberra ,Act , Australia 2601 Tel.: +61 2 6272 3320	David.heinrich@daff.gov.au
Canada	Kanwal Kochhar (Ms.)	National Manager Grains and Oilseeds Section Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) Floor 2, Room 118 E 59 Camelot Drive, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0Y9 Canada Tel.: +(613) 773-7118 / Fax: (613) 773-7144	Kanwal.Kochhar@inspection.gc.ca
Canada	Brian Lemon (Mr.)	Director, Field Crops Division CFIA 59 Camelot Drive, Ottawa, ON, K1A 0Y9 Canada Tel.: +613-773-7116 / Fax: 613-773-7261	Brian.lemon@inspection.gc.ca
China	Liang Wei (Mr.)	Section Chief Shandong Entry & Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau Room 2005, #2 Zhongshan Road , Qingdao , Shandong, China Tel.: + 86-532-80886109 Fax: + 86-532-80886125	Lwf715@yahoo.com.cn

Country	Name	Mailing, address, telephone	Email address
China	Zhang Yong (Mr.)	Vice-Section Chief Nanjing Entry & Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau Room 602, #1 Guojian Road, Nanjing, Jiangsu, China Tel.: + 86-13914715903 / Fax: + 86-025-52345471	zhangyong0318@yahoo.com.cn
Costa Rica	José Arturo Solórzano Arrroyo (Mr.)	NTA: Agricultural Technology Research Institute Plant Protection Department, Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock, San José, Costa Rica Tel: +(506): 87210693 / Fax (506): 22315004	asolorzano@inta.go.cr
Germany	Jens – Georg Unger (Mr.)	Julius Kühn-Institut, Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants Institute for National and International Plant Health Messeweg 11/12, 38104 Braunschweig, Germany Tel.: +49 531 299 3370	Jens-Georg.Unger@jki.bund.de
Haiti	Pierre Charlemagne Charles (Mr.)	Ministry of Agriculture Natural Resources and Rural Development (MARNDR) Route Nationale N.1, Damien Haiti WI Tel.: (509) 37801321 / 34389608 / 34793515	piecharles1055@yahoo.com
Honduras	Edgar Santamaria (Mr.)	Plant Health Deputy Director- SENASA/SAG Ministry of Agriculture/Plant and Animal Health Service (SENASA) Colonia Loma Linda, Avenida La FAO Tegucigalpa, MDC, Honduras Tel.: +504-9998-2405 / Fax: 504-2235- 8425	esantamaria@senasa-sag.gob.hn
Indonesia	Maman Suparman (Mr.)	Applied Research Institute of Agricultural Quarantine JI. Raya Setu, Mekarwangi, Cibitung, Bekasi, Jakarta, Indonesia Tel.: +62 21 826 18923/ 62 813 991 55774 Fax: +62 21 826 18923	antario_dikin@yahoo.com
Japan	Masahiro Sai (Mr.)	Senior Officer Yokohama Plant Protection Station, MAFF 1-16-10, Shin-yamashta, Naka-ku, Yokohama, Japan Tel.: + 81-45-622-8693 / Fax: + 81-45-621-7560	saim@pps.maff.go.jp

Country	Name	Mailing, address, telephone	Email address
Japan	Motoi Sakamura (Mr.)	Director, Operation Department Kobe Plant Protection Station, MAFF 1-1, Hatobacho, Chuou-ku, Kobe, Japan Tel.: +81-45-622-8693 / Fax: +81-45-621-7560	sakamuram@pps.maff.go.jp
Jamaica	Fitzroy Gordon (Mr.)	Plant Quarantine / Produce Inspector Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries, Plant Quarantine 193 Old Hope Road, Kingston 6, Jamaica W.I. Tel.: +876-924-8906 / Fax: +896-924-8907	gordon_fitzroy@yahoo.com
Kenya	John Wanga (Mr.)	Assistant Inspector KEPHIS Mombasa Regional Office P. O. Box 80126, Mombasa, Kenya Tel: +254 041 2316002/3 or +254 020 3536174	kephis_mombasa@kephis.org jwanga@kephis.org
Korea	Kyu-Ock Yim (Ms.)	Assistant Director Department of Plant Quarantine, Animal, Plant and Fisheries Quarantine and Inspection Agency 175 Anyang-ro, Manan-gu, Anyang-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea Tel.: + 82 31 420 7665 / Fax: + 82 31 420 7605	koyim@korea.kr
Korea	Sun-hyeog Yoon (Mr.)	Assistant Director Department of Plant Quarantine, Animal, Plant and Fisheries Quarantine and Inspection Agency 175 Anyang-ro, Manan-gu, Anyang-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea Tel.: + 82 31 420 7665 / Fax: + 82 31 420 7605	Shyoon99@korea.kr
Mexico	Norma Alejandra Elizalde Jiménez (Ms.)	Subdirección de Armonización y Evaluación Internacional Dirección General de Sanidad Vegetal Dirección de Regulación Fitosanitaria Guillermo Pérez Valenzuela No. 127 Col. Del Carmen Del. Coyoacán, México D.F., CP 04100 Tel. +52 (55) 5090-3000 Ext. 51331	alejandra.elizalde@senasica.gob.mx
Embassy of Mexico	Ernesto Maldonado Garza (Mr.)	Agricultural Minister Counsellor SAGARPA/ Embassy of Mexico 45 O'Connor St. suite 1000, Ottawa Ontario, K1P1A4 Canada Tel.: +613 563 0733 / Fax: +613 563 0923	emaldonado@agrimexcan.com

Country	Name	Mailing, address, telephone	Email address
New Zealand	Conrad Black (Mr.)	Senior Advisor MAFBNZ 25 the Terrace , Wellington, New Zealand 6140 Tel.: +0064-4-894-0622 / Fax: +0064-4-894-0662	Conrad.black@maf.govt.nz
Philippines	Merle B. Palacpac (Ms.)	Agricultural Center Chief III Bureau of Plant Industry, Plant Quarantine Service Post Entry Quarantine Station, Bureau of Plant Industry, Economic Garden Los Banos, Laguna, Philippines Tel.: +634-9536-1678;634-9536-8588 Fax: +634-9536-1678	merle.palacpac@gmail.com
United Kingdom	Kelvin Hughes (Mr.)	Principal Plant Health and Seeds Inspector Food Environment Research Agency (FERA) 10Ga01, Sand Hutton, York, North Yorkshire, England United Kingdom Tel.: +44 1904 462340	Kelvin.hughes@fera.gsi.gov.uk
USA	George Galasso (Mr.)	National Trade Director for Grain PIM, PPQ, USDA 4700 River Road, Riverdale, MD, USA 20737 Tel.: +301-734-0857	George.galasso@aphis.usda.gov
USA	Ian Foley (Mr.)	Pest Management Bureau Chief Montana Department of Agriculture 302 N Roberts, Helena, MT USA Tel.: +406-444-9430 / Fax: +406-444- 9466	ifoley@mt.gov
USA	Donna Rise (Ms.)	Pest Management Bureau Chief Montana Department of Agriculture 302 N Roberts, Helena, MT USA Tel.: +406-444-9430 / Fax: +406-444- 9466	drise@mt.gov
Uruguay	Maria Inés Ares (Ms.)	Phytosanitary Advisor Dirección General de Servicios Agrícolas (DGSA) Ministry of Agriculture Millán 4703. Montevideo, Uruguay Tel.: +598-2309-8410, ext. 16 /Fax: +598- 2309-8410, ext. 267	mares@mgap.gub.uy

Country	Name	Mailing, address, telephone	Email address
Canada	Blaine Timlick (Mr.)	Program Manager, Infestation Control & Sanitation Canadian Grain Commission 844 – 303 Main St. Winnipeg Manitoba R3C 3G8 - Canada Tel.: + 204 983-2788 / Fax: + 204 983-7550	Blaine.timlick@grainscanada.gc.ca
Canadian Grain Commission	Melanie Gustafson (Ms.)	Policy Economist Canadian Grain Commission 601-303 Main Street, Winnipeg Manitoba, R3C 3G8 - Canada Tel.: +204 983-1894	melanie.gustafson@grainscanada.gc.ca
Canadian Wheat Board	Lawrence Klusa (Mr.)	Quality Control Manager The Canadian Wheat Board 423 Main Street, P.O. Box 816 Station Main Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 2P5 - Canada Tel.: +204 983-4410	lawrence_klusa@cwb.ca
Canada	Dennis Stephens (Mr.)	Executive Secretary Canada Grains Council 1215-220 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, MB, 3RC 0A5 Canada Tel.: +204-925-2130	office@canadagrainscouncil.ca
Convention on Biological Diversity	Kathryn Garforth (Ms.)	Legal Officer (Biosafety) Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity 413 St. Jacques St. W., Montreal, Quebec, H2Y 1N9 Canada Tel.: +514-287-7030 / Fax: +514-288-6588	kathryn.garforth@cbd.int
Participants R	epresenting lı	ndustry and Private Organizations	
ANEC/ Cargill	Tiago Dos Santos Sábio Moreno (Mr.)	Grain FSQR Leader ANEC/Brasil's Agriculture Ministery R. Will Cargill, 80 – Dist. Industrial CEP 38402-350 Uberländia, MG, Brasil Tel.: +55-34-3218.5230 / +55-34- 9102.7185	Tiago_Moreno@cargill.com
Argentina	Gabriel Alejandro Pierre (Mr.)	Representante de la Cámara de la Industria Aceitera de la República Argentina - Centro de Exportadores de Cereales, CIARA-CEC Paseo colon 505 piso 4to Capital Federal, Argentina +543476429073 / Fax: 543476429162	gpierre@nidera.com.ar

Country	Name	Mailing, address, telephone	Email address
Australia	Gerard McMullen (Mr.)	Principal c/o Grains Industry Market Access Forum PO Box 8163, Camberwell North, 3124, Victoria, Australia +61 3 9882 6679	gerardmcmullen@optusnet.com.au administration@gimaf.com.au
Canadian Grain Commission	Randy Dennis (Mr.)	Chief Grain Inspector for Canada Canadian Grain Commission 9-303 Main Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3C 3G8, Canada Tel.: +204-983-2780 / Fax: +204-983- 7550	Randy.dennis@grainscanada.gc.ca
Canola Council of Canada	Jim Everson (Mr.)	Vice President, Corporate Affairs Canola Council of Canada 912, 350 Sparks Street, Ottawa, ON, K1R 7S8, Canada Tel.: +613-230-9990 / Fax: +613-236- 3590	kraydenj@canolacouncil.org everssonj@canolacouncil.org
North American Export Grain Association	Arvid Hawk (Mr.)	Grain Quality & Food Safety Specialist North American Export Grain Association 9428 Marshall Road, Eden Prairie, MN 55347 USA Tel.: +952-949-2797	arvid.hawk@gmail.com
North American Export Grain Association	Walter Kirk Miller (Mr.)	Senior Advisor for New Technology and Trade North American Export Grain Association 1250 I Street NW, Suite 1003 Washington, DC 20005 USA Tel.: + 202-682-4030 Fax: 202-682-4033	wkmiller@naega.org
Pulse Canada	Anastasie Hacault (Ms.)	Manager, Market Access and Competitiveness Pulse Canada 1212-220 portage ave, Winnipeg, MB R3C 0A5, Canada Tel.: + 204 925 3787	ahacault@pulsecanada.com
US Grains Council	Kevin Roepke	K Street, Suite 1200 Washington, DC 20005 – USA Tel.: +202-789-0789 / Fax: +202-326- 0689	kroepke@grains.org www.grains.org
US Wheat Associates	Jim Frahm (Mr.)	VP - Planning US Wheat Associates, USA Tel.: +703-650-0240 / Fax: + 703-524- 4399	jfrahm@uswheat.org http://www.uswheat.org

Country	Name	Mailing, address, telephone	Email address
US Wheat Associates	Steven Wirsching (Mr.)	Director U.S. Wheat Associates 1200 NW Naito Parkway, Suite 600, Portland, Oregon, USA. 97209 Tel.: +503-223-8123 / Fax: +503-223-5026	swirschi@uswheat.org and amurchis@uswheat.org

APPENDIX 3 - Terms of reference for the open-ended IPPC workshop on international movement of grain ¹

Scope: The open ended workshop should collect information and provide clarity on the relevance and type of phytosanitary problems related to the international movement of grain. Furthermore the workshop should collect views and discuss options for the management of the risks identified that may require further action in the IPPC framework in order to minimize these risks and to protect countries from the introduction of quarantine pests associated with the international movement of grain.

Tasks: The workshop should provide an opportunity to collect, consider and discuss relevant information. A report on the main results from the workshop including the different views expressed or if possible common conclusions will be made available to the CPM and SC following the workshop. In particular the workshop should:

- Gather, analyze and discuss information in particular from NPPOs on pest risks related to the international movement of grain (including information on cases where the present systems failed to exclude the introduction of quarantine pests into new countries/areas or even continents) and discuss the factors that may have led to introductions.
- Consider the different phytosanitary risk factors specific to the international movement of grain and if possible evaluate their relevance on a global scale.
- Consider and highlight the relevance of existing ISPMs and clarify whether further specific harmonized guidance for the international movement of grain is considered necessary (e.g., grain production, processing, handling and movement practices, traceability of grain, sampling and inspection (import and export), and grain storage) in order to minimize the risk of introduction of quarantine pests.
- Consider and discuss the relevance of other specific issues (e.g. deviation from intended use).
- Develop an overview of existing standards (commercial, international organizations, RPPOs, NPPOs) that are relevant for the mitigation of the risks, and collect and discuss commercial stakeholder views on the options for further international guidance for the mitigation of phytosanitary risks.
- Explore the need and feasibility of harmonized recommendations for phytosanitary requirements for some types of grain moved internationally.
- Where possible develop common conclusions resulting from the discussions on the topics highlighted above.

Participation: Participants should include experts from NPPOs from all FAO regions and in particular from developing countries and from those who have been affected by or have experience with the introduction of pests of phytosanitary concern via imported grain. Furthermore representatives from trade, producers and international organizations involved in the international commercial movement of grain and food aid should participate. Individual experts with specific knowledge of pests that have been or may be introduced via grain may be invited.

Funding: External resources

The recent FAO congress on food security and the outcome of the discussions at the special session at the 4th Session of CPM will provide valuable background.

_

¹ CPM-5 (2010) Report, Appendix 19: Terms of reference for the open-ended IPPC workshop on international movement of grain

APPENDIX 4 - Main results of the workshop

The key discussion points, grouped into general categories, are as follows:

1. Pest Risk Assessment (PRA)

- Variable capacity among countries to conduct PRAs
- Phytosanitary measures need to be based on PRAs or other scientific data. Current phytosanitary measures for grains are not always technically justified and not consistent with risk.
- Intended use of the grain should be considered in the PRA process and requirements for seeds need to be clearly distinguished from those for grains
- Consider developing focused guidance for conducting PRAs for grains

2. Quality versus quarantine issues

- Quarantine issues are the responsibility of the National Plant Protection Organization (NPPO) whereas quality issues are mainly the responsibility of the industry
- Need to clearly distinguish between quarantine issues and quality issues, food safety issues and approved Living Modified Organisms (LMOs that have not been deemed to be a pest) to focus certification on phytosanitary issues
- Quality systems may assist in achieving quarantine requirements

3. Pest Risk Management

- 3 "tick" approach
 - $\sqrt{}$ registration of the facility
 - $\sqrt{}$ inspection of the conveyance
 - $\sqrt{}$ inspection of the commodity
- Possibility to define global risk management procedures for different categories of pest
- Explore the possibility to liaise with the International Maritime Organization (IMO) for cleanliness of conveyances
- Zero pest detection in a sample does not always mean zero infestation
- Zero tolerance in case of some pests, e.g. weeds, is sometimes impossible
- Development of risk management alternatives for the presence of weeds
- Industry and government play complementary roles in pest risk management
- Importers and exporters play an important role in pest risk management
- Some importing countries have difficulty controlling the intended use of imported product
- Managing risk at origin may be more effective than at destination, and can help alleviate the burden of pest risk management in developing countries where there may be deviation from the intended use
- Importing countries may have to safeguard transport to storage and processing facilities
- Equivalent internationally accepted sampling procedures in the export and importing countries are needed for grain
- Traceability may not be practical nor feasible
- Flexibility to adapt to dynamic industry practices e.g. just in time loading, electronic data transfer, high throughput elevators
- Guidance for situations in cases of potential deviation from intended use is needed

- Guidance is needed on phytosanitary measures to mitigate pest risk for the international movement of grains
- Treatments
 - . Mandatory treatment requirements by some countries are not technically justified
 - . Mandatory treatments are sometimes required by contracts that may exceed the phytosanitary requirements
 - . Methyl bromide has been identified as an ozone depleting substance and is being phased-out
 - . Required treatments need to be technically justified and economically viable
 - . In-transit fumigations are difficult to certify and there are human safety concerns associated with this type of treatment
 - . Recognition of industry practices or that contribute to the management of risk
 - . Recognition of post entry mitigation in the case of pest detection

4. Non-compliance

- Quick and timely notification of non-compliance is important in order for the exporting country to take proper corrective action and inform the NPPO of the importing country of the outcome

5. Surveillance

- Surveillance is important for providing data for a PRA conducted by the importing country and is the basis for phytosanitary certification by the exporting country

6. Capacity development needs

- Increased PRA capacity is needed to help improve the knowledge and expertise to conduct PRAs
- Practical guidelines on phytosanitary measures to mitigate pest risk for the international movement of grains are needed

7. Communication/Transparency

- Trading partners should be notified of changes to import requirements in a timely manner preferably in line with WTO-SPS notification requirements
- NPPOs should provide single source (IPPC Contact point) of phytosanitary import requirement

Outcomes

There was general agreement in the above conclusions that identified the various issues related to the international movement of grain. After some discussion, it was clear that the participants had varying opinions on the concept of facility registration and whether an ISPM was needed on this topic or if guidance could be provided on how to use existing ISPMs. It was decided that these points could be further considered by the CPM and the participants agreed that the following three options could be considered:

- 1. Develop an ISPM according to the CPM adopted List of topics for IPPC standards: *International movement of grain* (2008-007)
- 2. Develop a 'best practices' type document which could include industry practices, outline the roles and responsibilities of NPPOs and explain the applicability of existing ISPMs; or
- 3. A combination of both 1 and 2.